
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RUTHERFORD COUNTY, TENNESSpS^ AT
MURFREESBORO

JONATHAN GILBERT,

AUG 10
2023

'pl-OCK

Plaintiff, § "
§

V. § Case No. 75CC1-2023-CV-81200

§
DAYLAN LANGFORD, § JURY DEMANDED

§
Defendant §

DEFENDANT'S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S

MOTION TO DISMISS AND TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-l7-l04(a) PETITION TO
DISMISS THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO THE TENNESSEE

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ACT

I. INTRODUCTION

Peaceful protests—including those that are designed to have a coercive impact on

a business—enjoy the First Amendment's full protection. See Org.for a Better Austin v.

Keefe, 402 U.S. 415,419 (1971) ("The claim that the expressions were intended to exercise

a coercive impact on respondent does not remove them from the reach of the First

Amendment.... [S]o long as the means are peaceful, the communication need not meet

standards of acceptability."). This principle has been clearly established by the United

States Supreme Court for decades. See id.; see also NAA.C.P. v. Claiborne Hardware

Co., 458 U.S. 886, 913 (1982) ("While States have broad power to regulate economic

activity, we do not find a comparable right to prohibit peaceful political activity such as

that found in the boycott in this case."). Of. Taubman Co. v. Webfeats, 319 F.3d 770, 778

(6th Cir. 2003) ("although economic damage might be an intended effect of Mishkoffs

expression, the First Amendment protects critical commentary when there is no
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confusion as to source, even when it involves the criticism of a business.”).  As detailed 

below, this principle also controls the outcome of this case, because the Defendant has 

been sued for conducting a peaceful protest that the First Amendment fully protects. 

This is a Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation (a “SLAPP”-suit).1  It has 

been filed by Plaintiff Jonathan Gilbert—a no-good, very-bad auto mechanic2 who has a 

lengthy criminal record that includes crimes of dishonesty3—against Daylan Langford, an 

unhappy customer who, like many before him, received poor and abusive service when he 

went to “Jon’s Auto Service” to get his truck repaired.  After Mr. Langford’s bad experience 

with the Plaintiff, Mr. Langford exercised his First Amendment right to peacefully protest 

his mistreatment in a public forum.4  In particular, Mr. Langford put on a chicken-head 

mask and—over the course of several days—displayed signs reading “Jon The Con” and 

“Worst Auto Shop in Town? SOS!!” while peacefully protesting on a public sidewalk:5 

            

 
1 See Nandigam Neurology, PLC v. Beavers, No. M2020-00553-COA-R3-CV, 2021 WL 2494935, at *3 
(Tenn. Ct. App. June 18, 2021) (“The term ‘SLAPP’ stands for ‘strategic lawsuits against public 
participation,’ meaning lawsuits which might be viewed as ‘discouraging the exercise of constitutional 
rights, often intended to silence speech in opposition to monied interests rather than to vindicate a 
plaintiff’s right.’” (citing Todd Hambidge, et al., Speak Up. Tennessee’s New Anti-SLAPP Statute Provides 
Extra Protections to Constitutional Rights, 55 TENN. B.J. 14, 15 (Sept. 2019))), no app. filed.   
2 Ex. 1, Consumer Reviews of Jon’s Auto Service. 
3 Ex. 2, Jonathan Gilbert Criminal and Civil Litigation History. 
4 Ex. 3, Langford Decl. 
5 Id. at ¶ 26. 
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The Plaintiff is understandably upset about Mr. Langford exercising his rights to 

protest and criticize him.  The proper solution to the Plaintiff’s upset is to improve his 

poor service and business practices, though, not to file a retaliatory lawsuit in an attempt 

to silence valid and well-deserved criticism.  Regardless, because Mr. Langford’s speech 

is protected by the First Amendment—and because the Plaintiff cannot prevail for a host 

of other reasons—the Plaintiff’s speech-based tort claims must be dismissed with 

prejudice under Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 12.02(6) and the Tennessee Public 

Participation Act.  Thereafter, Mr. Langford is entitled to an award of attorney’s fees and 

costs incurred under Tennessee Code Annotated § 20-17-107(a)(1), and this Court should 

assess severe discretionary sanctions against the Plaintiff under Section 20-17-107(a)(2). 
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II.  LEGAL STANDARDS 

A.  THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

“A motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim pursuant to Rule 

12.02(6) of the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure asserts that the allegations in the 

complaint, accepted as true, fail to establish a cause of action for which relief can be 

granted.”  Conley v. State, 141 S.W.3d 591, 594 (Tenn. 2004).  When—as here—“the 

plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the claim that would entitle the plaintiff to 

relief[,]” a defendant’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim must be granted.  See 

Crews v. Buckman Labs. Int’l, Inc., 78 S.W.3d 852, 857 (Tenn. 2002). 

B.  THE TENNESSEE PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ACT 

The Tennessee Public Participation Act (“TPPA”)—which Tennessee enacted in 

2019 to deter, expediently resolve, and punish SLAPP-suits like this one—provides that 

“[i]f a legal action is filed in response to a party’s exercise of the right of free speech, right 

to petition, or right of association, that party may petition the court to dismiss the legal 

action” subject to the specialized provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated §§ 20-17-104 

and 20-17-105.  See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-104(a).  The TPPA “provide[s] an additional 

substantive remedy to protect the constitutional rights of parties” that “supplement[s] 

any remedies which are otherwise available . . . under the Tennessee Rules of Civil 

Procedure.”  See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-109.  As such, nothing in the Act “[a]ffects, 

limits, or precludes the right of any party to assert any defense, remedy, immunity, or 

privilege otherwise authorized by law[.]”  See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-108(4). 

By enacting the TPPA, the Tennessee General Assembly forcefully established that: 

The purpose of this chapter is to encourage and safeguard the constitutional 
rights of persons to petition, to speak freely, to associate freely, and to 
participate in government to the fullest extent permitted by law and, at the 
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same time, protect the rights of persons to file meritorious lawsuits for 
demonstrable injury. This chapter is consistent with and necessary to 
implement the rights protected by Article I, §§ 19 and 23, of the Constitution 
of Tennessee, as well as by the First Amendment to the United States 
Constitution, and shall be construed broadly to effectuate its purposes and 
intent. 
 

TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-102.  Substantively, the TPPA provides that: 

(1)  When a party has been sued in response to the party’s exercise of the right 

of free speech or the right to petition, he or she “may petition the court to dismiss the legal 

action” under § 20-17-104(a); 

(2)  “All discovery in the legal action is stayed” automatically by statute “until 

the entry of an order ruling on the petition” pursuant to § 20-17-104(d); and 

(3)  “The court’s order dismissing or refusing to dismiss a legal action pursuant 

to a petition filed under this chapter is immediately appealable as a matter of right to the 

court of appeals[,]” TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-106.  

A TPPA petition to dismiss “may be filed within sixty (60) calendar days from the 

date of service of the legal action or, in the court’s discretion, at any later time that the 

court deems proper.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-104(b).  Under the TPPA, “[t]he 

petitioning party has the burden of making a prima facie case that a legal action against 

the petitioning party is based on, relates to, or is in response to that party’s exercise of the 

right to free speech, right to petition, or right of association.”  TENN. CODE ANN.  

§ 20-17-105(a).  Thereafter, the Court “shall dismiss the legal action unless the responding 

party establishes a prima facie case for each essential element of the claim in the legal 

action.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-105(b).  Separately, “[n]otwithstanding subsection (b), 

the court shall dismiss the legal action if the petitioning party establishes a valid defense 

to the claims in the legal action.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-105(c).  “If the court dismisses 
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a legal action pursuant to a petition filed under this chapter, the legal action or the 

challenged claim is dismissed with prejudice.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-105(e).  

C.  THRESHOLD ISSUES OF LAW GOVERNING DEFAMATION CLAIMS  

To establish a prima facie case of defamation in Tennessee, a plaintiff must 

traditionally plead and prove that: “(1) a party published a statement; (2) with knowledge 

that the statement was false and defaming to the other; or (3) with reckless disregard for 

the truth of the statement or with negligence in failing to ascertain the truth of the 

statement.”  Davis v. Tennessean, 83 S.W.3d 125, 128 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2001).  The 

preliminary question of whether an assertedly defamatory statement can convey a 

defamatory meaning is a question of law.  See Aegis Scis. Corp. v. Zelenik, No. M2012-

00898-COA-R3CV, 2013 WL 175807, at *6 (Tenn. Ct. App. Jan. 16, 2013) (“[T]he 

preliminary question of whether a statement ‘is capable of conveying a defamatory 

meaning’ presents a question of law.” (quoting Revis v. McClean, 31 S.W.3d 250, 253 

(Tenn. Ct. App. 2000))), no app. filed.  Thus, a reviewing court is not bound by the 

plaintiff’s characterizations of the statements at issue, and it must disregard a plaintiff’s 

unreasonable interpretations of them.  See, e.g., Moman v. M.M. Corp., No. 02A01-9608-

CV00182, 1997 WL 167210, at *3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Apr. 10, 1997) (“If the [allegedly 

defamatory] words are not reasonably capable of the meaning the plaintiff ascribes to 

them, the court must disregard the latter interpretation.” (citing Stones River Motors, 

Inc. v. Mid-S. Pub. Co., 651 S.W.2d 713, 719 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1983), abrogated on other 

grounds by Zius v. Shelton, No. E1999-01157-COA-R3-CV, 2000 WL 739466, at *3 (Tenn. 

Ct. App. June 6, 2000), no app. filed)), no app. filed.  See also Loftis v. Rayburn, No. 

M2017-01502-COA-R3-CV, 2018 WL 1895842, at *6 (Tenn. Ct. App. Apr. 20, 2018) (“We 

find as a matter of law that the statements in Mr. Myers’ article cannot reasonably be 
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construed as implying facts that are not true[.] . . . We are not bound by Mr. Loftis’s 

interpretation of the statements because we find they do not reasonably have the meaning 

he ascribes to them.” (citing Grant v. Com. Appeal, No. W2015-00208-COA-R3-CV, 2015 

WL 5772524, at *11 (Tenn. Ct. App. Sept. 18, 2015), no app. filed, abrogated on other 

grounds by Funk v. Scripps Media, Inc., 570 S.W.3d 205 (Tenn. 2019))), no app. filed. 

Critically, “the Supreme Court of the United States has constitutionalized the law 

of [defamation].”  Press, Inc. v. Verran, 569 S.W.2d 435, 440 (Tenn. 1978).  See also New 

York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 269 (1964).  Accordingly, “ensuring that 

defamation actions proceed only upon statements which may actually defame a plaintiff 

is an essential gatekeeping function of the court.”  Pendleton v. Newsome, 772 S.E.2d 759, 

763 (Va. 2015) (quotation and citation omitted).  With this “essential gatekeeping 

function” in mind, id., Tennessee has adopted several categorical bars to liability that 

prevent claimed defamations and any related-speech based tort claims from being 

actionable, at least three of which are outcome-determinative here. 

First, an allegedly defamatory statement “must be factually false in order to be 

actionable[.]”  Moman, 1997 WL 167210, at *4.  Thus, comments upon true and 

nondefamatory published facts, statements of opinion, and other statements that are 

objectively incapable of being proved false are inactionable.  See, e.g., Davis v. Covenant 

Presbyterian Church of Nashville, No. M2014-02400-COA-R9-CV, 2015 WL 5766685, at 

*3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2015) (“[C]omments upon true and nondefamatory published 

facts are not actionable, even though [the comments] are stated in strong or abusive 

terms.”), app. denied (Tenn. Feb. 18, 2016) (cleaned up); Weidlich v. Rung, No. M2017-

00045-COA-R3-CV, 2017 WL 4862068, at *6 (Tenn. Ct. App. Oct. 26, 2017) (holding that 

“[a] writer’s comments upon true and nondefamatory published facts are not actionable” 
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as a matter of law), no app. filed.   

 Second, damages can never be presumed in a defamation case; instead, a plaintiff 

is “required to prove actual damages in all defamation cases.”  Hibdon v. Grabowski, 195 

S.W.3d 48, 68 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2005) (citing Handley v. May, 588 S.W.2d 772, 776 (Tenn. 

Ct. App. 1979)).  Additionally, because defamation claims depend on actual damage to 

one’s reputation, a libel-proof plaintiff who lacks a good reputation to begin with cannot 

maintain a defamation claim.  See Looper v. News Channel 5 Network, No. CIV.A.6197C, 

2002 WL 32163526, at *1 (Tenn. Cir. Ct. May 7, 2002) (citing Davis, 83 S.W.3d 125), no 

app. filed; Coker v. Sundquist, No. 01A01-9806-BC-00318, 1998 WL 736655 (Tenn. Ct. 

App. Oct. 23, 1998), app. denied (Tenn. May 10, 1999). 

 Third, when—as here—a plaintiff contends that a claimed defamation is actionable 

due to actual malice, see Compl. at ¶ 9 (“The Plaintiff avers that Defendant, Langford, has 

intentionally acted with malice . . . .”), the standard of proof is heightened.  In light of our 

“profound national commitment to the principle that debate on public issues should be 

uninhibited, robust, and wide-open,” see New York Times, 376 U.S. at 270, the bar for 

proving actual malice is high, and plaintiffs “who desire to pursue defamation actions bear 

a heavy burden of proof” regarding that essential element, see Tomlinson, 969 S.W.2d at 

405.  In particular,  

Because negligence is not the standard . . ., a defendant’s failure “to 
investigate information provided by others before publishing it, even when 
a reasonably prudent person would have done so, is not sufficient by itself 
to establish [actual malice].” Lewis, 238 S.W.3d at 301 (citing Harte-Hanks 
Commc’ns, Inc., 491 U.S. at 688). Instead, the question is not whether the 
defendant should have entertained serious doubts as to the truth of the 
publication, but whether the defendant, in fact, did entertain serious 
doubts. Harte-Hanks Commc’ns, Inc., 491 U.S. at 688 (quoting St. Amant 
v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 732 (1968)). 

 
Elsten, 2019 WL 4899759, at *4. 
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 As detailed below, all of these restrictions preclude liability here.  The Plaintiff’s 

Complaint must be dismissed with prejudice as a result. 

III.  FACTS 
 

 For purposes of the Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss only—but not for purposes of 

his TPPA Petition—the allegations set forth in the Plaintiff’s Complaint are accepted as 

true.  See Conley, 141 S.W.3d 591 at 594.   

A. THE PLAINTIFF’S ALLEGATIONS 

 “The Plaintiff, Jonathan Gilbert, operates a car repair business at 50 N. Lowry 

Street, Smyrna, Tennessee, 3 7167 which is called Jon’s Auto Service.”  See Compl. at ¶ 1.  

“Beginning June 30, 2023 Defendant, Langford, has been marching and screaming in 

front of his business in his right-of-way at 50 N. Lowry Street, Smyrna, Tennessee 37167 

dressed in a rooster costume and holding a sign which reads ‘Jon the Con’ and ‘Warning- 

Worst Auto Repair Shop in Town. SOS.’”  Id. at ¶ 5.  “The Plaintiff further avers that 

Defendant, Langford, has marched in front of his business yelling at customers and 

potential customers stating such things as ‘no don't go’ and ‘con’ period [sic].”  Id. at ¶ 6.   

The Plaintiff imagines and alleges that the above statements are actionable as torts 

for Libel; Slander; False Light; Procurement of Breach of Contract in Violation of Tenn. 

Code Ann. § 47-50-109; and Intentional Interference With Business Relationships.  See 

id. at 3–4.  Thus, he seeks an award of “compensatory damages in an amount in excess of 

$100,000;” “treble damages and attorney’s fees pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-50-

709;” and “punitive damages in an amount in excess of $100,000[.]”  See id. at 4.  The 

Plaintiff also demands “[t]hat the Defendant be enjoined from interfering with his 

business” and making the statements alleged in his complaint.  See id. 
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B. REALITY 

The Plaintiff is a bad mechanic with a bad reputation and a bad attitude.  

Numerous consumers across a host of consumer review websites recount the Plaintiff’s 

poor service, dishonest behavior, and bad temper.6  The only thing that the Plaintiff 

appears to experience more commonly than reports of bad customer service are run-ins 

with the criminal and civil justice system, where the Plaintiff has found himself charged, 

convicted, and sued for a host of misbehavior—including crimes of dishonesty such as 

(apparently repeatedly) passing worthless checks in multiple counties.7   

Mr. Langford’s experience with the Plaintiff was in line with the Plaintiff’s history 

of bad behavior.  On May 6, 2023, Mr. Langford’s 2007 Cummins 5.9 24v 4x4 lost power 

after he exited Jefferson Pike on to 1-840 en route to an event in Nashville.8   Upon 

coasting to a stop at the side of 840, Mr. Langford exited the truck to the heavy smell of 

Diesel fuel odor.9  He also noticed that the high-pressure side of the motor (on the driver’s 

side) had fresh fuel sitting on it below the feed lines.10 

Mr. Langford—who was familiar with his truck’s fuel system—had previously used 

a trusted mechanic to repair his vehicle.11  Unfortunately, that person no longer worked 

for Mr. Langford’s usual mechanic shop, which also informed Mr. Langford that it did not 

have any Cummins mechanics on staff and could not recommend anyone.12   Thus, Mr. 

Langford searched on Google for local diesel mechanics and found a listing for “Jon’s Auto 

 
6 See generally Ex. 1.   
7 See generally Ex. 2. 
8 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 3. 
9 Id. at ¶ 4.  
10 Id.  
11 Id. at ¶ 5. 
12 Id. 
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Service.”13   

Mr. Langford then called the Plaintiff, who displayed working knowledge of Mr. 

Langford’s vehicle, said he could take a look, and was curious about what injectors had 

been used.14  Mr. Langford told the Plaintiff that he would bring a print of the parts that 

had been installed previously.15  Mr. Langford then called a towing company and arranged 

for the company to pick up his vehicle.16 

Mr. Langford dropped his truck off at the Plaintiff’s auto shop on May 8, 2023.17  

At that time, the Plaintiff said he would look at it and get back to Mr. Langford that week.18  

The Plaintiff did not do so.19   

Mr. Langford was busy and had to leave town by that point.20  Thus, he stopped in 

to see what the situation was when he returned on May 23, 2023.21  When he did so, the 

Plaintiff said that his employees had quit working for him.22 

Mr. Langford then asked if the Plaintiff actually wanted the job of repairing his 

truck.23  The Plaintiff said he did and promised to get on it and call Mr. Langford for a 

deposit once the parts had been identified.24  A week went by, and the Plaintiff still had 

not called.25 

Finally, on June 1, 2023, the Plaintiff contacted Mr. Langford.26  Mr. Langford 

 
13 Id. at ¶ 6. 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
16 Id. 
17 Id. at ¶ 7. 
18 Id. 
19 Id. 
20 Id. at ¶ 8. 
21 Id. 
22 Id. 
23 Id. at ¶ 9. 
24 Id. 
25 Id. 
26 Id. at ¶ 10. 
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came in the following day to pay a deposit and explained that he urgently needed to use 

his truck, so he wanted to know when the parts would be delivered.27  Mr. Langford was 

told that the parts would be delivered no later than June 7, 2023 and that the work would 

be completed by no later than June 9, 2023.28  With that agreed-upon timeline in mind, 

Mr. Langford paid a $1,875.49 deposit.29 

June 9, 2023 then came and went without word from the Plaintiff.30  Mr. Langford 

accordingly went back to Jon’s Auto Service the following week to check on the status of 

his truck.31  At that time, the Plaintiff claimed he still did not even have the parts that were 

needed to complete Mr. Langford’s repair.32  Mr. Langford thus asked for the bill for the 

parts and tracking numbers for the shipment.33  In response to that request, the Plaintiff 

was unwilling to provide any proof that the parts had ever been ordered or shipped.34 

Mr. Langford then stated that he was prepared to have his truck moved if the 

Plaintiff could not complete the repair.35  The Plaintiff responded that he would complete 

the repair as soon as parts came in.36 

On June 23, 2023, the repair still not having been completed, Mr. Langford called 

again to check on the status of his truck.37  The person who answered the phone hung up 

on him.38  Mr. Langford thus jumped on his scooter to check on what was happening with 

 
27 Id.  
28 Id. 
29 Id. 
30 Id. at ¶ 11. 
31 Id. 
32 Id. 
33 Id.  
34 Id.  
35 Id. 
36 Id. 
37 Id. at ¶ 12. 
38 Id. 
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his truck in person.39   

Mr. Langford then observed the Plaintiff and another individual—whom Mr. 

Langford now understands to be the Plaintiff’s brother—fussing with his truck and 

cursing as they yanked on the fuel tank while the truck was on a lift in the first bay.40  The 

Plaintiff was screaming something to the effect of “It should come out! What is it hung up 

on?”41  The other individual responded “the harness.”42  The Plaintiff then stated 

something to the effect of: “I’m not messing with this, cut that shit.”43 

At this point, Mr. Langford approached the bay door to ask what was going on.44  

The Plaintiff began yelling about the truck not being clean, that there was dirt on the top 

of the fuel tank, and complaining about Mr. Langford not taking care of it.45  Before Mr. 

Langford could ask why they were going to cut his harness, the other individual cut Mr. 

Langford’s harness right against the clip, contrary to what Mr. Langford knew to be 

standard operating procedure.46 

The Plaintiff then started yelling at the other individual about how they would now 

need to buy another clip.47  The Plaintiff and the other individual were still struggling to 

get the tank off the lift, so Mr. Langford helped them get it to the ground.48  To Mr. 

Langford’s surprise, the Plaintiff then kneeled down with a screwdriver and hammer and 

started knocking the in-tank filter loose, causing dirt to fall into the truck’s fuel tank.49  

 
39 Id. 
40 Id. at ¶ 13. 
41 Id. 
42 Id. 
43 Id. 
44 Id. at ¶ 14. 
45 Id. 
46 Id. 
47 Id. at ¶ 15. 
48 Id. 
49 Id. 
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Mr. Langford snapped a picture of the dirt in his fuel tank after this happened:50 

 

Mr. Langford then left the Plaintiff’s shop and was contacted by the Plaintiff again 

on June 26, 2023.51  The Plaintiff reported that the parts were now installed, but that the 

truck’s feed tubes and lines were leaking and needed to be replaced.52  Given the delays 

and poor work that Mr. Langford had already witnessed, Mr. Langford was not willing to 

let the Plaintiff work on his truck any further, even if he needed more work done.53  As a 

result, Mr. Langford went down to pick up the truck and pay for the repairs.54 

When Mr. Langford arrived to pick up his truck and pay, the Plaintiff would not 

release the truck or accept the original final balance.55 Mr. Langford then made several 

unsuccessful attempts to pay the full amount with his business debit card and take his 

 
50 Id. 
51 Id. at ¶ 16. 
52 Id. 
53 Id. 
54 Id. 
55 Id. at ¶ 17. 
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truck, which the Plaintiff refused to allow Mr. Langford to do.56 

Mr. Langford realized in that moment that he was going to have to begin 

documenting what happened.57  As a result, he started recording.58  The Plaintiff then 

lunged at Mr. Langford and responded: “You fucking keep taping me I’m going to stuff it 

up your ass.”59 

After Mr. Langford stopped recording, the Plaintiff came out, started physically 

bumping and shoving Mr. Langford, and told him that he would shoot him for 

trespassing.60  Not wanting to be murdered over a work truck by two mechanics who were 

carrying firearms, the Plaintiff called police.61  A dispatcher responded that she thought 

it was a civil matter.62  Mr. Langford then requested that an officer call him to confirm.63 

Shortly afterward, Mr. Langford was called by an officer who recounted knowledge 

of past issues with the Plaintiff and his auto shop.64  The officer stated that he was willing 

to conduct a “keep the peace” call—something that he said he had done at the Plaintiff’s 

business before—for Mr. Langford, but that he was concerned that the Plaintiff’s shop 

would be closed before he could do so.65  The officer thus advised Mr. Langford that he 

could call back the following day when his shift began.66 

In the interim, Mr. Langford called a towing company to help him retrieve his truck 

 
56 Id. 
57 Id. at ¶ 18. 
58 Id. 
59 Id. See also Ex. 4, Video recorded by Daylan Langford (June 26, 2023), available at 
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/hlvdv8w3d7jvylms3nceb/Ex.-4-
Video.MOV?rlkey=bwdbwkhqah6zm4hf617wbs2vq&dl=0.  
60 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl., at ¶ 19. 
61 Id. 
62 Id. 
63 Id. 
64 Id. at ¶ 20. 
65 Id. 
66 Id. 

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/hlvdv8w3d7jvylms3nceb/Ex.-4-Video.MOV?rlkey=bwdbwkhqah6zm4hf617wbs2vq&dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/hlvdv8w3d7jvylms3nceb/Ex.-4-Video.MOV?rlkey=bwdbwkhqah6zm4hf617wbs2vq&dl=0
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and explained the situation.67  The individual from the towing company then began 

sharing with Mr. Langford previous poor experiences with the Plaintiff.68 

The following day—June 27, 2023—the police officer with whom Mr. Langford had 

spoken the day before showed up with backup to assist Mr. Langford in retrieving his 

truck.69  After Mr. Langford sat across the street at a Shell gas station for approximately 

25–30 minutes, the officer returned to say that the Plaintiff was only willing to accept 

cash, and that Mr. Langford would otherwise have to take the Plaintiff to court to get his 

truck released unless Mr. Langford was able to record the Plaintiff on video refusing his 

cash.70 

Mr. Langford then went to Ascend Federal Credit Union to get $1,200.00 in cash.71  

When he returned, the Plaintiff was gone, and Jon’s Auto Service would neither accept 

Mr. Langford’s cash nor release Mr. Langford’s truck.72  Mr. Langford had to call the 

towing company to cancel the pick-up as a result.73  

Determined to see things through, Mr. Langford then had his son return with him 

to Jon’s Auto Service to witness and record their conversation the next morning.74  At that 

time, while being recorded, the Plaintiff accepted Mr. Langford’s payment, politely 

released Mr. Langford’s truck, acted as if they had never experienced any previous issues, 

and even stated that his brother had had a misunderstanding the day before.75  Mr. 

Langford thought the interaction bizarre.76  Mr. Langford’s entire experience with the 

 
67 Id. at ¶ 21. 
68 Id. 
69 Id. at ¶ 22. 
70 Id. 
71 Id. at ¶ 23. 
72 Id. 
73 Id. 
74 Id. at ¶ 24. 
75 Id. 
76 Id. 
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Plaintiff was also the worst workmanship, manners, and ethics that Mr. Langford had 

ever witnessed from any business in town.77  The final invoice that Mr. Langford received 

is attached as Ex. 5. 

After his horrible experience with the Plaintiff, Mr. Langford sought out and 

reviewed an ACLU informational guide about how to protest legally.78  He printed that 

guidance out and kept it in his personal bag to show anyone who insisted he was not 

permitted to protest.79  Mr. Langford then ordered a chicken-head mask from Amazon.80  

The reason he chose a chicken-head mask was metaphoric.  In particular, where Mr. 

Langford was raised, people say “the chickens have come home to roost” when bad 

behavior comes back to haunt someone.81 

Mr. Langford then made a pair of signs reading “Jon The Con” and “Worst Auto 

Shop in Town? SOS!!” and embarked upon his peaceful protest of the Plaintiff’s auto 

shop.82  Mr. Langford protested peacefully on the public sidewalk outside Jon’s Auto 

Service for several days.83  He never made any false statements; he never left the public 

sidewalk; he never obstructed any customers; and he never interfered with egress or 

ingress.84  Mr. Langford also didn’t approach any individual customers or yell.85  Instead, 

while wearing a chicken-head mask and air buds, Mr. Langford peacefully displayed his 

opinion about “Jon the Con” and peacefully displayed a question about whether the 

Plaintiff operated the worst auto shop in town.86 

 
77 Id. 
78 Id. at ¶ 25.  The ACLU guidance that Mr. Langford consulted and printed is attached as Ex. 11. 
79 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 25. 
80 Id. 
81 Id. 
82 Id. at ¶ 26. 
83 Id.  
84 Id. 
85 Id. 
86 Id. 
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On Wednesday, July 5, 2023, one of Mr. Langford’s neighbors drove by Jon’s Auto 

Service and saw Mr. Langford protesting.87  It was extremely hot, and his neighbor 

thought Mr. Langford could use some water.88  As a result, Mr. Langford’s neighbor—who 

had had his own terrible experience with the Plaintiff unrelated to Mr. Langford’s—

returned a short time later to bring Mr. Langford a few water bottles.89 

Mr. Langford’s neighbor then parked and walked over to where Mr. Langford was 

protesting to bring him water.90  While catching up with Mr. Langford, the Plaintiff’s 

brother came out and walked across the street to the gas station.91  While the Plaintiff’s 

brother was returning from the gas station, Mr. Langford’s neighbor then stated, in a loud 

voice, something to the effect of: “Thanks for telling me about these guys—I had a whole 

bunch of work to get done but I’ll go somewhere else.”92 

Mr. Langford’s neighbor said this strictly as a show of support for Mr. Langford’s 

protest, not because he actually intended to do business with Jon’s Auto Service and had 

had his mind changed.93  After Mr. Langford’s neighbor’s one and only experience dealing 

with the Plaintiff, he knew for a fact that he would never be repeat business for the 

Plaintiff.94  Mr. Langford’s neighbor’s decision not to be a repeat customer had nothing 

to do with anything Mr. Langford told him.95  Instead, the Plaintiff made that decision for 

him by the way he treated him way before Mr. Langford’s protest.96 

On Monday, July 3, 2023, while Mr. Langford was picketing at Jon’s Auto Service, 

 
87 Id. at ¶ 27. See also Ex. 6, Parks Decl. 
88 Parks Decl. ¶ 4. 
89 Id. 
90 Id. at ¶ 5. 
91 Id. at ¶ 6. 
92 Id. at ¶ 7. 
93 Id. at ¶ 8. 
94 Id. at ¶ 9. 
95 Id. 
96 Id. 
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Mr. Langford’s wife contacted him to ask if he wanted a photo of himself during his 

protest.97  Mr. Langford’s wife assumed from Mr. Langford’s response that he did want a 

photo, so she drove to where Mr. Langford was protesting and pulled into the far end of 

the Jon’s Auto Service parking lot.98  Her plan was to quickly get out, snap a photo, and 

drive off.99  As soon as Mr. Langford saw her, though, he started waving his hands, 

motioned for her not to get out of the car, and indicated that she should leave 

immediately.100  As a result, Mr. Langford’s wife got back into her car and drove off, 

figuring that something had changed.101 

Mr. Langford communicated to his wife to leave immediately because he assumed 

that she was just going to take a photo while driving by his protest, rather than park and 

approach him.102  For safety reasons, Mr. Langford did not want the Plaintiff to know 

what kind of car his wife drove.103  As a result, when he saw his wife park at Jon’s Auto 

Service, Mr. Langford indicated to her that she should leave immediately.104  Mrs. 

Langford was not a customer of the Plaintiff or Jon’s Auto Service at the time; she is not 

a customer of the Plaintiff or Jon’s Auto Service now; she does not intend to become a 

customer of the Plaintiff’s or Jon’s Auto Service at any future time; and she never intended 

to become a customer of Jonathan Gilbert or Jon’s Auto Service at any previous time.105 

While Mr. Langford was protesting, the Plaintiff hit him with a mirror of a vehicle 

and called police to try to get him to leave.106  Police told Mr. Langford that he could press 

 
97 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 28. See also Ex. 7, Marianne Langford Decl. ¶ 3. 
98 Ex. 7, Marianne Langford Decl. ¶ 4. 
99 Id. at ¶ 5. 
100 Id. 
101 Id. 
102 Id. at ¶ 6. See also Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 28. 
103 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 28. 
104 Id. See also Ex. 7, Marianne Langford Decl. ¶ 6. 
105 Ex. 7, Marianne Langford Decl. ¶ 7. 
106 Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 29. 
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charges for assault, but Mr. Langford didn’t want to.107  Based on what had happened 

regarding his truck, police also encouraged him to press charges for theft.  Mr. Langford 

did not want to do that, either.108 

During and after Mr. Langford’s peaceful protest, Mr. Langford had people from 

the community approach him and thank him, saying that they, too, had had bad 

experiences with the Plaintiff.109  Others have contacted Mr. Langford to thank him in 

writing, recounting similar experiences of the Plaintiff acting like a “dirt bag”:110 

111 

In retaliation for Mr. Langford’s peaceful and constitutionally protected protest, 

this action followed. 

 
 

107 Id. 
108 Id. 
109 Id. at ¶ 30. 
110 Id.  
111 Id.  
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IV.  ARGUMENT 
 

A. THE PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A COGNIZABLE CLAIM FOR RELIEF. 
 

1. The statements over which Mr. Langford has been sued are 
inactionable as defamation as a matter of law. 

 
The only specifically alleged publications listed in the Plaintiff’s Complaint are:  

1. A sign that read: “Jon the Con”;112 

2. A sign that read: “Warning-Worst Auto Repair Shop in Town. SOS”;113  

3. The verbal statement “no don’t go”;114 and 

4. The verbal statement “con[.]”115   

As no other statements are specified in the Plaintiff’s Complaint, only these four 

statements will be addressed.  See, e.g., Rose v. Cookeville Reg’l Med. Ctr., No. M2007-

02368-COA-R3-CV, 2008 WL 2078056, at *4 (Tenn. Ct. App. May 14, 2008) (noting 

requirement that a plaintiff plead, at minimum, “the substance of the slanderous 

statement” and “the time and place of the utterance” even under relaxed pleading 

standards) (citing Handley v. May, 588 S.W.2d 772, 774–75 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1979)); Webb 

v. Stanley Jones Realty, Inc., No. 04-1288-T/AN, 2005 WL 1959160, at *2 (W.D. Tenn. 

Aug. 11, 2005) (holding that “the substance of the utterance must be set forth”) (citing 

Handley, 588 S.W.2d at 775); Millsaps v. Millsaps, No. 159, 1989 WL 44840, at *6 (Tenn. 

Ct. App. May 3, 1989) (holding that “the substance of such utterance is required” and that 

“in order to put defendant on notice as to the allegations against which he must defend, 

the complaint must also allege the time and place of such utterance.”); Markowitz v. 

 
112 See Compl. at ¶ 5. 
113 Id.  Despite this allegation, Mr. Langford notes that the Plaintiff has materially misquoted the sign at 
issue.  It did not say “Warning”; it had a thumbs-down emoji; and “Worst Auto Repair Shop in Town” ended 
with a question mark, not a period.  See Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 26. 
114 See Compl. At ¶ 6. 
115 Id.  
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Skalli, No. 13-2186-JDT-CGC, 2013 WL 4782143, at *4 (W.D. Tenn. Sept. 5, 2013) (“In 

the instant case, Plaintiff merely makes the conclusory statement that Defendant made 

‘slanderous remarks’ without providing Defendant with ‘the substance of the slanderous 

utterance [ . . . ] along with notice of the time and place of the utterance [to appraise 

Defendant] of the allegations that he must defend against.  Therefore, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Court DISMISS the complaint for failure to state a claim on 

which relief may be granted . . . . ” (citing Handley, 588 S.W.2d at 775)).   

a. As a matter of law, no statement referenced in the Plaintiff’s 
Complaint is actionable as defamation. 
 

Both the Tennessee Court of Appeals and the Tennessee Supreme Court have 

instructed that in defamation cases, “the issue of whether a communication is capable of 

conveying a defamatory meaning is a question of law for the court to decide in the first 

instance[.]”  See Brown v. Mapco Exp., Inc., 393 S.W.3d 696, 709 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2012); 

see also Aegis Scis. Corp., 2013 WL 175807, at *6 (“[T]he preliminary question of whether 

a statement ‘is capable of conveying a defamatory meaning’ presents a question of law.” 

(quoting Revis, 31 S.W.3d at 253)); McWhorter v. Barre, 132 S.W.3d 354, 364 (Tenn. Ct. 

App. 2003) (“The question of whether [a statement] was understood by its readers as 

defamatory is a question for the jury, but the preliminary determination of whether [a 

statement] is ‘capable of being so understood is a question of law to be determined by the 

court.’” (quoting Memphis Publ’g Co. v. Nichols, 569 S.W.2d 412, 419 (Tenn. 1978))).  If 

an allegedly defamatory statement is not capable of being understood as defamatory, then 

a plaintiff’s complaint must be dismissed for failure to state a claim.  McWhorter, 132 

S.W.3d at 364.   

Here, the statements over which the Plaintiff has sued do not give rise to an 
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actionable defamation claim.  Instead, they are inactionable rhetorical hyperbole and 

statements of opinion that are not reasonably capable of conveying a defamatory 

meaning.  At worst, they are merely annoying, offensive, or embarrassing.  As a result, the 

Plaintiff’s defamation claim fails as a matter of law. 

i. The statements attributed to Mr. Langford are inactionable 
rhetorical hyperbole. 

 
The U.S. Supreme Court has emphasized that heated and emotionally charged 

rhetoric is entitled to free-speech protection under the doctrine of rhetorical hyperbole.  

For example, in Old Dominion No. 496, Nat’l Ass’n of Letter Carriers v. Austin, 418 U.S. 

264, 284 (1974), the Supreme Court ruled that labor union members did not defame non-

union members when they referred to them as “scabs.”  Id.  The Court characterized the 

use of the term “scab” as “a lusty and imaginative expression of the contempt felt by union 

members towards those who refuse to join.”  Id. at 286. 

Similarly, in Greenbelt Co-Op. Publ’g Ass’n, Inc. v. Bresler, 398 U.S. 6, 14 (1970), 

the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that a newspaper engaged in constitutionally protected 

rhetorical hyperbole when it referred to a developer’s contract with a city as “blackmail.”  

Id.  The Court reasoned that “even the most careless reader must have perceived that the 

word was no more than rhetorical hyperbole, a vigorous epithet used by those who 

considered [the developer’s] negotiating position extremely unreasonable.”  Id. at 14.  

Accordingly, the Court determined that “[n]o reader could have thought that either the 

speakers at the meetings or the newspaper articles reporting their words were charging 

[the plaintiff] with the commission of a criminal offense.”  Id. 

The Sixth Circuit has similarly held that TripAdvisor’s use of the term “dirtiest” to 

describe a hotel in a review was protected rhetorical hyperbole.  See Seaton v. TripAdvisor 
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LLC, 728 F.3d 592, 598 (6th Cir. 2013).  There, the court explained that: “‘Dirtiest’ is a 

loose, hyperbolic term because it is the superlative of an adjective that conveys an 

inherently subjective concept,” and thus, it held that “no reader of TripAdvisor’s list would 

understand Grand Resort to be, objectively, the dirtiest hotel in all the Americas, the 

North American continent, or even the United States.”  Id. (citing Greenbelt Coop. Publ’g 

Ass’n, 398 U.S. at 14).  The court further explained that: “[S]tatements that cannot 

‘reasonably [be] interpreted as stating actual facts about an individual because they are 

expressed in ‘loose, figurative or hyperbolic language,’ and/or the content and tenor of 

the statements ‘negate the impression that the author seriously is maintaining an 

assertion of actual fact’ about the plaintiff are not provably false and, as such, will not 

provide a legal basis for defamation.”  Id. (quoting Milkovich, 497 U.S. at 21, 110 S.Ct. 

2695).  

For their part, Tennessee’s courts have held that a county commissioner claiming 

that a private citizen was “threatening everybody” during a discussion about security 

changes at various county buildings in a public meeting was inactionable “rhetorical 

hyperbole intended to make a point[.]”  Moses v. Roland, No. W2019-00902-COA-R3-

CV, 2021 WL 1140273, at *11 (Tenn. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2021).  As a result, the Court 

determined that this statement was not defamatory as a matter of law. In making that 

determination, the Court considered: 

[T]he degree to which the statements are verifiable, whether the statement 
is objectively capable of proof or disproof[.]” Patton Wallcoverings, Inc. v. 
Kseri, No. 15-10407, 2015 WL 3915916, at *5 (E.D. Mich. June 25, 2015) 
(citing Jolliff, 513 F. 3d at 611–12). Thus, when a statement is 
“rhetorical hyperbole” rather than verifiable or disprovable fact, the 
statement is not capable of a defamatory meaning. 
 

Id.  See also McCluen v. Roane Cnty. Times, Inc., 936 S.W.2d 936, 941 (Tenn. Ct. App. 
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1996) (recognizing terms such as “pure highway robbery” and “rip-off[]” as 

constitutionally protected rhetorical hyperbole); Id. (citing Schy v. Hearst Pub. Co., 205 

F.2d 750 (7th Cir.1953) (charging the plaintiffs with “gestapo-like” tactics not actionable, 

because it was merely “a somewhat rhetorical way of saying that their conduct was 

dictatorial”)). 

 Here, every statement over which Mr. Langford has been sued falls squarely within 

the protection of the doctrine of rhetorical hyperbole.  Simply put: No reasonable reader 

would perceive a sign referring to the Plaintiff as “Jon the Con” or suggesting that he 

operated the “Worst Auto Repair Shop In Town” as making any objective factual claims.  

Instead, they were simply rhetorical devices designed to communicate Mr. Langford’s 

opinion that the Plaintiff engages in distasteful business practices and does poor work.  

Such speech is protected by the First Amendment.  See, e.g., Bally Total Fitness Holding 

Corp. v. Faber, 29 F. Supp. 2d 1161, 1167 (C.D. Cal. 1998) (“consumer commentary 

[stating] that Bally engages in business practices which Faber finds distasteful or 

unsatisfactory” constitutes “speech protected by the First Amendment”).  Thus, the 

Plaintiff’s defamation claims must be dismissed for failure to state a claim.   

ii.  Subjective opinions are not capable of conveying a defamatory 
meaning. 

 
In determining whether a statement is an inactionable opinion, courts consider 

whether a statement is “objectively capable of proof or disproof.”  See Moses v. Roland, 

No. W2019-00902-COA-R3-CV, 2021 WL 1140273, at *11 (Tenn. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2021) 

(“[I]n determining whether a statement is capable of being defamatory in this context we 

should look to ‘the degree to which the statements are verifiable, whether the statement 

is objectively capable of proof or disproof[.]’” (quoting Patton Wallcoverings, Inc. v. 



-26- 
 

Kseri, No. 15-10407, 2015 WL 3915916, at *5 (E.D. Mich. June 25, 2015) (citing Jolliff v. 

N.L.R.B., 513 F.3d 600, 611–12 (6th Cir. 2008)))), no app. filed.  Here, none of the 

statements over which Mr. Langford has been sued is capable of objective disproof.  

Simply stated: the Plaintiff’s allegations that Mr. Langford called him a “con,” 

characterized his auto shop as the “worst” in town,” and told customers not to “go” are 

unmistakably not factual statements.  Instead, they are mere expressions of opinion and 

advocacy, which are not defamatory.  See, e.g., Clark v. Viacom Int’l Inc., 617 F. App’x 

495, 508 (6th Cir. 2015) (“[T]he falsity requirement is met only if the statement in 

question makes an assertion of fact—that is, an assertion that is capable of being proved 

objectively incorrect.”).  The Plaintiff’s defamation claims must be dismissed accordingly. 

iii.  Mr. Langford’s statements were, at worst, merely annoying, 
offensive, or embarrassing. 

 
 “[T]he crux of free-speech rights is that generally they can be exercised even if (and 

perhaps especially when) they cause disruption and disharmony.”  Bennett v. Metro. 

Gov’t of Nashville & Davidson Cty., No. 3:17-CV-00630, 2019 WL 1572932, at *12 (M.D. 

Tenn. Apr. 11, 2019). With this context in mind, Tennessee provides that merely 

“‘annoying, offensive or embarrassing’” speech is categorically inactionable as 

defamation.  Covenant Presbyterian Church, 2015 WL 5766685, at *3 (quoting Brown, 

393 S.W.3d at 708).   Consequently, 

[f]or a communication to be [defamatory], it must constitute a serious 
threat to the Plaintiffs’ reputation. A [defamation] does not occur simply 
because the subject of a publication finds the publication annoying, 
offensive or embarrassing.  The words must reasonably be construable as 
holding the plaintiff up to public hatred, contempt or ridicule.  They must 
carry with them an element “of disgrace.” 
 

Covenant Presbyterian Church, 2015 WL 5766685, at *3 (quoting Brown, 393 S.W.3d at 

708).  
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The statements over which Mr. Langford has been sued do not qualify.  No 

statement over which the Plaintiff has sued can fairly be regarded as carrying an element 

of “disgrace.”  Id.  At most, they are “offensive” or “embarrassing,” akin to an innocuous 

live version of a bad Yelp! review.  The Plaintiff’s defamation claims must be dismissed 

accordingly. 

iv.  Mr. Langford cannot be sued for suggesting that the Plaintiff’s auto 
shop—which is not a party to this action—is the worst in town. 

 
Although the Plaintiff’s complaint materially misquotes Mr. Langford’s sign—

claiming falsely (and under penalty of perjury) that it read: “Warning-Worst Auto Repair 

Shop in Town. SOS”116—for purposes of Mr. Langford’s motion to dismiss, this false 

allegation is taken as true.  Even as pleaded, though, the statement is inactionable as a 

matter of law for the simple reason that it fails to satisfy colloquium.   

In Stones River Motors, 651 S.W.2d at 717, the Court of Appeals explained that: 

As an essential element of a cause of action for defamation, the plaintiffs 
must prove a false and defamatory statement concerning another. 
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 558 (1977).  Otherwise stated at common 
law, one of the required elements of proof was the “colloquium,” a showing 
that the language was directed to or concerning the charging party.” 
 

Id. (partial emphasis added).  Given this standard, a plaintiff cannot prosecute a 

defamation claim based on statements that do not contain language directed to or 

concerning him, see id., and any defamation claim premised upon such a statement must 

be dismissed as a matter of law.  See Steele v. Ritz, No. W2008-02125-COA-R3-CV, 2009 

WL 4825183, at *3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2009) (citations omitted), no app. filed. (“This 

[colloquium] requirement—often referred to as the ‘of and concerning’ requirement—

 
116 Id. at ¶ 5.  Despite this allegation, Mr. Langford notes that the Plaintiff has materially misquoted the sign 
at issue.  It did not say “Warning”; it had a thumbs-down emoji; and “Worst Auto Repair Shop in Town” 
ended with a question mark, not a period.  See Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 26. 
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confines actionable defamation to statements made against an ‘ascertained or 

ascertainable person, and that person must be the plaintiff.’” (quoting 53 C.J.S. LIBEL AND 

SLANDER; INJURIOUS FALSEHOOD § 35 (2005))). 

Here, the second sign over which the Plaintiff has sued Mr. Langford did not 

mention or refer to the Plaintiff, and the Plaintiff himself acknowledges as much in his 

own Complaint.  Instead, it mentioned and referred to the Plaintiff’s auto shop, which is 

not a party to this action.  The Plaintiff’s defamation claim against Mr. Langford arising 

from any statement about Jon’s Auto Service must be dismissed for failure to satisfy 

colloquium as a result. 

2. Because the Plaintiff’s defamation claims are inactionable, so, 
too, are the Plaintiff’s related speech-based tort claims. 

 
“A party may not skirt the requirements of defamation law by pleading another, 

related cause of action.”  Boladian v. UMG Recordings, Inc., 123 F. App’x 165, 169 (6th 

Cir. 2005) (unpublished) (citing Hustler, 485 U.S. at 53).  As a result, a litigant may not 

seek to “bypass the First Amendment” and evade constitutional restrictions by asserting 

other related speech-based tort claims.  See Seaton v. TripAdvisor LLC, 728 F.3d 592, 

601 n.9 (6th Cir. 2013) (“Seaton’s claims for false-light invasion of privacy, trade 

libel/injurious falsehood, and tortious interference with prospective business 

relationships appear to be an attempt to bypass the First Amendment.” (citing 

Compuware Corp. v. Moody’s Inv’rs Servs., Inc., 499 F.3d 520, 529 (6th Cir. 2007))).   

Given this doctrine, all of the Plaintiff’s additional tort claims are subject to the 

same heightened constitutional requirements as his defamation claims, see id., because a 

plaintiff “may not use related causes of action to avoid the constitutional requisites of a 

defamation claim.”  Moldea v. N.Y. Times Co., 22 F.3d 310, 319–20 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“a 
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plaintiff may not use related causes of action to avoid the constitutional requisites of a 

defamation claim”); Montgomery v. Risen, 875 F.3d 709, 713 (D.C. Cir. 2017).  Cf. Loftis 

v. Rayburn, No. M2017-01502-COA-R3-CV, 2018 WL 1895842, at *8 (Tenn. Ct. App. Apr. 

20, 2018) (“For the reasons we found the statements in Mr. Myers’ article fail to imply a 

defamatory meaning, we also find they are not susceptible to the requisite inferences 

casting Mr. Loftis in a false light.” (citing West v. Media General Convergence, Inc., 53 

S.W.3d 640, 645 n.5 (Tenn. 2001))), no app. filed.  Thus, because the Plaintiff’s 

defamation claims are inactionable as a matter of law, see supra at 21–28, the Plaintiff’s 

related speech-based tort claims must fail as a matter of law as well. 

3. The Plaintiff’s related speech-based tort claims fail as a matter of 
law in their own right. 

 
The Plaintiff has alternatively sued Mr. Langford for “False Light Defamation 

[sic],” “Procurement of Breach of Contract in Violation of Tenn. Code Ann. § 47-50-109,” 

and “Intentional Interference With Business Relationships.”  See Pl.’s Compl. at 3–4.  As 

detailed below, all of these tort claims fail independently on their own terms. 

Beginning with the Plaintiff’s “False Light Defamation [sic]” claim (which the 

Defendant assumes is a False Light invasion of privacy claim, because “False Light 

Defamation” is not a thing): it suffers from obvious problems.  For one, because the 

statements over which Mr. Langford has been sued: (1) do not state facts; (2) are 

rhetorical hyperbole; and (3) are statements of opinion that cannot even be perceived as 

false, there is no plausible scenario in which “the angle from which the facts are presented, 

or the omission of certain material facts, results in placing the plaintiff in a false light.”  

See West v. Media Gen. Convergence, Inc., 53 S.W.3d 640, 646 n.5 (Tenn. 2001).  

Further, there is no scenario in which “a reasonable person would be justified, in the eyes 
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of the community, of being seriously offended and aggrieved by the statements at issue” 

in this case, and the Plaintiff has not alleged otherwise.  Loftis, 2018 WL 1895842, at *8. 

Both omissions are fatal.   

The Plaintiff’s Procurement of Breach of Contract in Violation of Tenn. Code Ann. 

§ 47-50-109 claim fails on its own terms, too.  The Plaintiff has alleged that the Defendant 

“has induced and persuaded customers of Plaintiff to refuse to perform lawful contracts 

with Plaintiff[,]”117 though no such customer is named and no such contract is identified.  

The Plaintiff has also conspicuously failed to allege whether or how the Defendant knew 

that these uniformly unnamed customers had any such lawful contract(s) with the 

Plaintiff.  Elsewhere in his Complaint, the Plaintiff also refers to potential customers,118 

making clear there was not a lawful contract in place as to at least a subset of the 

customers in question.   

In any event, to the extent that any such contracts existed (Mr. Langford is 

skeptical), Tenn. R. Civ. P. 10.03 required the Plaintiff to append them to his Complaint 

as an exhibit.  See Tenn. R. Civ. P. 10.03 (“Whenever a claim or defense is founded upon 

a written instrument other than a policy of insurance, a copy of such instrument or the 

pertinent parts thereof shall be attached to the pleading as an exhibit . . . .”) 

(emphasis added).  There is not a single one so appended, though, so this Court may infer 

that none existed.   

For all of these reasons, the  barebones legal conclusions that the Plaintiff couches 

as facts to support his Procurement of Breach of Contract claim can be disregarded.    See 

Webb v. Nashville Area Habitat for Human., Inc., 346 S.W.3d 422, 427 (Tenn. 2011) 

 
117 Id. at ¶ 16. 
118 Id. at ¶ 21. 



-31- 
 

(“courts are not required to accept as true assertions that are merely legal arguments or 

‘legal conclusions’ couched as facts.”) (quoting Riggs v. Burson, 941 S.W.2d 44, 47–48 

(Tenn. 1997)).  Thereafter, left without any facts to support it, the Plaintiff’s Procurement 

of Breach of Contract claim fails as a matter of law for failure to state a cognizable claim.   

Third and finally, the Plaintiff’s “Intentional Interference With Business 

Relationships” claim fails on its own terms as well.  As before, the Plaintiff’s single-

paragraph allegation supporting the claim is replete with legal arguments and legal 

conclusions couched as facts.  Setting those defects aside, a defendant’s “improper motive 

or improper means” is a necessary element of a claim for Intentional Interference With 

Business Relationships, and the Plaintiff cannot satisfy it here.  See Trau-Med of Am., 

Inc. v. Allstate Ins. Co., 71 S.W.3d 691, 701 (Tenn. 2002).   

Rather than being “improper,” peaceful protests—including those that are 

designed to result in a coercive economic impact—are a quintessentially protected (and 

celebrated) First Amendment activity.  See Charlotte Ave. Med. Clinic, Inc. v. Freeman, 

No. 88-270-II, 1989 WL 9521, at *3 (Tenn. Ct. App. Feb. 10, 1989) (“Public picketing is 

speech protected by the First Amendment. Public issue picketing is ‘an exercise of ... basic 

constitutional rights in their most pristine and classic form....’”) (quoting Carey v. Brown, 

447 U.S. 455, 466-67, 100 S.Ct. 2286, 2293, 65 L.Ed.2d 263 (1980) (citing Edwards v. 

South Carolina, 372 U.S. 229, 235, 83 S.Ct. 680, 683, 9 L.Ed.2d 697 (1963)).  As a result, 

the Plaintiff’s “Intentional Interference with Business Relationships” claim fails to state a 

claim for lack of improper motive or means. 

For all of these reasons, in addition to failing to satisfy the constitutional 

restrictions governing defamation claims, each of the Plaintiff’s separate speech-based 

tort claims fails on its own terms for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 
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granted. 

B. THE PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED UNDER THE TENNESSEE 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ACT. 

 
The Tennessee Public Participation Act (TPPA) separately governs the Plaintiff’s 

claims.  As detailed below, the TPPA mandates that all of Plaintiff’s claims be dismissed 

with prejudice; that the Plaintiff be ordered to pay the Defendant’s attorney’s fees and 

costs; and that both the Plaintiff and his counsel—who has filed flagrantly ridiculous 

SLAPP-suits like this on several recent occasions—be subject to severe discretionary 

sanctions to deter repetition of their conduct. 

1. Applicability of the Tennessee Public Participation Act 
 
The Tennessee Public Participation Act—Tennessee’s still relatively new anti-

SLAPP statute—provides that “[i]f a legal action is filed in response to a party’s exercise 

of the right of free speech, right to petition, or right of association, that party may petition 

the court to dismiss the legal action” subject to the TPPA’s specialized provisions.  TENN. 

CODE ANN. § 20-17-104(a).  Under Tennessee Code Annotated § 20-17-103(3), “‘[e]xercise 

of the right of free speech’ means a communication made in connection with a matter of 

public concern or religious expression that falls within the protection of the United States 

Constitution or the Tennessee Constitution.”  In turn, § 20-17-103(6) provides that: 

“Matter of public concern” includes an issue related to: 

(A) Health or safety; 
(B) Environmental, economic, or community well-being; 
(C) The government; 
(D) A public official or public figure; 
(E) A good, product, or service in the marketplace; 
(F) A literary, musical, artistic, political, theatrical, or audiovisual work; 
or 
(G) Any other matter deemed by a court to involve a matter of 
public concern[.] 
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Id. (emphases added).  In a TPPA case, “[t]he petitioning party has the burden of making 

a prima facie case that a legal action against the petitioning party is based on, relates to, 

or is in response to that party’s exercise of the right to free speech, right to petition, or 

right of association.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-105(a).    

Here, the statements over which the Defendant has been sued, at minimum, 

involve ”[a] good, product, or service in the marketplace[.]”  See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-

17-103(6)(E).  Thus, the TPPA applies to this action, see id., as it was filed in response to 

Mr. Langford’s exercise of his right to free speech within the meaning of Section 20-17-

104(a).  See generally Compl.; Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl.  Accord Nandigam 

Neurology, PLC, 639 S.W.3d at 668 (finding, in case arising from a Yelp! review of a 

neurologist’s poor service and bad behavior, that “the communication at issue was an 

exercise of Defendant's right of free speech as that right is defined for purposes of the 

TPPA.”).   

Mr. Langford’s TPPA Petition is also timely filed.  Such a petition “may be filed 

within sixty (60) calendar days from the date of service of the legal action or, in the court’s 

discretion, at any later time that the court deems proper.”  TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-

104(b).  Here, the Plaintiff filed his Complaint on July 11, 2023, and Mr. Langford 

petitioned to dismiss it within 30 days of service.  As a result, having been filed within—

and far sooner than—60 days of service of the Plaintiff’s Complaint, Mr. Langford’s TPPA 

petition to dismiss this action is timely filed.  See id.; TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-104(b).  

Thus, having met his initial burden under Section 20-17-105(a), and having timely 

petitioned this Court to dismiss the Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, this Court “shall 

dismiss the legal action unless the responding party establishes a prima facie case for each 

essential element of the claim in the legal action.”   See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-105(b).    
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2. Mr. Langford can establish valid defenses. 

“Notwithstanding subsection (b), the court shall dismiss the legal action if the 

petitioning party establishes a valid defense to the claims in the legal action.”  See § 20-

17-105(c).  Under this section, Mr. Langford expressly incorporates into this Petition each 

argument set forth in his motion to dismiss in support of his defense that the Plaintiff has 

failed to state any cognizable claim for relief against him.  See TENN. CODE ANN. § 20-17-

109 (“This chapter is intended to provide an additional substantive remedy to protect the 

constitutional rights of parties and to supplement any remedies which are otherwise 

available to those parties under common law, statutory law, or constitutional law or under 

the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure.”).  Based on further facts established through 

admissible evidence, Mr. Langford can also establish the additional valid defenses to 

liability set forth below. 

a. The First Amendment protected Mr. Langford’s protest. 
 

“[T]he right to protest—including activities such as ‘demonstrations, protest 

marches, and picketing’—is clearly protected by the First Amendment.”  Black Lives 

Matter Seattle-King Cnty. v. City of Seattle, Seattle Police Dep't, 466 F. Supp. 3d 1206, 

1212 (W.D. Wash. 2020) (quoting Collins v. Jordan, 110 F.3d 1363, 1371 (9th Cir. 1996) 

(in turn citing Edwards v. South Carolina, 372 U.S. 229, 83 S.Ct. 680, 9 L.Ed.2d 697 

(1963); Thornhill v. Alabama, 310 U.S. 88, 60 S.Ct. 736, 84 L.Ed. 1093 (1940); NAACP 

Western Region v. City of Richmond, 743 F.2d 1346 (9th Cir.1984)).  “Since ‘time 

immemorial,’ city streets and sidewalks have been deemed public fora, and as such any 

First Amendment restrictions placed on them are ‘subject to a particularly high degree of 

scrutiny.’” Id.; see also Charlotte Ave. Med. Clinic, Inc., 1989 WL 9521, at *3 (“The 

sidewalk where the defendants picketed is public.  Thus the nature of the forum in this 
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case is public. ‘It is also true that “public places” historically associated with the free 

exercise of expressive activities, such as streets, sidewalks, and parks, are considered, 

without more, to be ‘public forums.’”) (quoting United States v. Grace, 461 U.S. at 178, 

103 S.Ct. at 1707).  “Speech that stirs passions, resentment or anger is fully protected by 

the First Amendment” as well.  Black Lives Matter Seattle-King Cnty., 466 F. Supp. 3d at 

1212–13 (citing Terminiello v. Chicago, 337 U.S. 1, 4, 69 S.Ct. 894, 93 L.Ed. 1131 (1949)).   

With these considerations in mind, critical statements—even intensely critical 

statements that are expressly designed to harm a plaintiff’s business—made in the context 

of a peaceful protest enjoy the First Amendment’s absolute protection.  See, e.g., Org. for 

a Better Austin, 402 U.S. at 419 (“The claim that the expressions were intended to exercise 

a coercive impact on respondent does not remove them from the reach of the First 

Amendment. . . . [S]o long as the means are peaceful, the communication need not meet 

standards of acceptability.”); N.A.A.C.P., 458 U.S. at 913 (“While States have broad power 

to regulate economic activity, we do not find a comparable right to prohibit peaceful 

political activity such as that found in the boycott in this case.”); Taubman Co., 319 F.3d 

at 778 (“although economic damage might be an intended effect of Mishkoff's expression, 

the First Amendment protects critical commentary when there is no confusion as to 

source, even when it involves the criticism of a business.”); Karhani v. Meijer, 270 F. 

Supp. 2d 926, 932 (E.D. Mich. 2003) (noting that the Supreme Court has “rejected the [] 

argument that the literature was not protected by the First Amendment because 

[speakers] hoped that it would have a coercive impact on the respondent”); Concerned 

Consumers League v. O'Neill, 371 F. Supp. 644, 647 (E.D. Wis. 1974) (“informational 

picketing about business practices is protected. . . .   There is, therefore, a strong 

presumption that any peaceful expression which is designed to educate consumers enjoys 
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the constitutional protection of the First Amendment.”); State of Mo. v. Nat'l Org. for 

Women, Inc., 620 F.2d 1301, 1317 (8th Cir. 1980) (“the right to petition is of such 

importance that it is not an improper interference even when exercised by way of a 

boycott.”). 

Put another way: a peaceful protest—including a coercive boycott that encourages 

others to join in its cause—“is a form of speech or conduct that is ordinarily entitled to 

protection under the First and Fourteenth Amendments.”  N.A.A.C.P., 458 U.S. at 907.  

Thus, while Mr. Langford’s protest may not have been as nationally significant as, say, the 

Montgomery Bus Boycott, see F.T.C. v. Superior Ct. Trial Laws. Ass'n, 493 U.S. 411, 447 

(1990) (“From the colonists’ protest of the Stamp and Townsend Acts to the Montgomery 

bus boycott and the National Organization for Women's campaign to encourage 

ratification of the Equal Rights Amendment, boycotts have played a central role in our 

Nation’s political discourse.”) (Brennan, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part), it 

enjoyed the First Amendment’s absolute protection nonetheless.  All of the Plaintiff’s 

claims purporting to impose tort liability based on Mr. Langford’s exercise of his First 

Amendment rights to peacefully protest and picket the Plaintiff’s business fail 

accordingly. 

b. The Plaintiff cannot sue the Defendant for posing a question. 
 

Contrary to the false allegations set forth in the Plaintiff’s Complaint, see Compl. 

at ¶ 5, Mr. Langford’s second sign posed a question.  In particular, it asked: “Worst Auto 

Shop In Town? SOS!!” 
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119 

Importantly, a question—no matter how unflattering–can never be defamatory as 

a matter of law.  See, e.g., Abbas v. Foreign Pol’y Grp., LLC, 783 F.3d 1328, 1338 (D.C. 

Cir. 2015) (“[I]t is generally settled as a matter of defamation law in other jurisdictions 

that a question, ‘however embarrassing or unpleasant to its subject, is not accusation.’  

Chapin v. Knight–Ridder, Inc., 993 F.2d 1087, 1094 (4th Cir. 1993).  Questions indicate 

a defendant’s ‘lack of definitive knowledge about the issue.’” (quoting Partington, 56 F.3d 

at 1157)).  Thus, “questions are questions.”  See id. (“[W]e here follow the widely adopted 

defamation principle that questions are questions.”).  The Plaintiff’s defamation claim 

premised upon the Plaintiff’s second sign fails as a matter of law as a result. 

c. The Plaintiff has not suffered actual damages, and in any event, he is 
libel-proof. 

 
  A plaintiff is “required to prove actual damages in all defamation cases.”  Hibdon, 

195 S.W.3d at 68 (citing Handley, 588 S.W.2d at 776).  Tennessee also recognizes the 

libel-proof plaintiff doctrine, which provides that a plaintiff with a severely tarnished 

reputation may not maintain a defamation action.  See Rogers v. Jackson Sun 

Newspaper, No. CIV. A. C-94-301, 1995 WL 383000, at *1 (Tenn. Cir. Ct. Jan. 30, 1995) 

 
119 See Ex. 3 at ¶ 26. 
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(“This Court finds and holds, as a matter of law, Plaintiff’s reputation in the community 

at the time of the article’s publication was so severely tarnished, he is ‘libel-proof’ and 

may not maintain this defamation action for an allegedly erroneous report of his criminal 

record.”), no app. filed.  The doctrine “essentially holds that ‘a notorious person is without 

a “good name” and therefore may not recover for injury to it.’”  Davis, 83 S.W.3d at 128 

(quoting ROBERT D. SACK, SACK ON DEFAMATION: LIBEL, SLANDER AND RELATED PROBLEMS 

35 (Cum. Supp. 1998)).  The libel-proof plaintiff doctrine is premised upon the notion 

that “[t]o suffer injury to one’s standing in the community, or damage to one’s public 

reputation, one must possess good standing and reputation for good character to begin 

with.”  Id. at 130.   

 Here, the Plaintiff has not suffered actual damages.  The “customers and potential 

customers” to which the Plaintiff’s Complaint refers (see Compl. at ¶ 21) were, in fact, not 

customers at all.  Instead, they were Mr. Langford’s neighbor—who had already resolved 

never to do business with the Plaintiff again for his own reasons, see Ex. 6, Parks Decl.—

and Mr. Langford’s wife, who had never been and never intended to become a customer 

of the Plaintiff at all, see Ex. 7, Marianne Langford Decl. 

 Separate and apart from these facts, the Plaintiff is libel-proof.  For decades, he has 

been a dishonest and frequent-flying criminal and civil defendant with a penchant for 

passing worthless checks and mistreating customers.  See Ex. 1, Ex. 2.  His poor 

reputation is both well-earned and well-known.  As others have aptly put it: The Plaintiff 

is a “dirt bag.”  Ex. 3, Daylan Langford Decl. ¶ 30.  Accordingly, the Plaintiff’s defamation 

claim should be dismissed on the ground that the Plaintiff is libel-proof.  Alternatively, it 

should be dismissed because the Plaintiff cannot show any actual damages.  See Pate v. 

Service Merch. Co., 959 S.W.2d 569, 573–74 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1997) (“[D]amages must be 
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shown in all defamation cases.”). 

V.  COSTS, ATTORNEY’S FEES, & SANCTIONS 

Under Tennessee Code Annotated § 20-17-107(a): 

If the court dismisses a legal action pursuant to a petition filed under this 
chapter, the court shall award to the petitioning party: 
 

(1) Court costs, reasonable attorney’s fees, discretionary costs, and other 
expenses incurred in filing and prevailing upon the petition; and 

 
(2) Any additional relief, including sanctions, that the court determines 
necessary to deter repetition of the conduct by the party who brought 
the legal action or by others similarly situated. 

 
The Plaintiff’s prosecution of this knowingly baseless SLAPP-suit merits costs, 

attorney’s fees, and severe sanctions.  The transparent purpose of this lawsuit was to 

silence, censor, intimidate, and retaliate against Mr. Langford, a righteously unhappy 

customer whom the Plaintiff badly mistreated.  No litigant acting in good faith could 

reasonably believe that the Plaintiff’s claims had merit under these circumstances.   

The sanctions handed down here should also be entered jointly and severally 

against the Plaintiff’s counsel.  This lawsuit was literally filed the same day as another 

Tennessee Circuit Court entered an order dismissing a SLAPP-suit the Plaintiff’s counsel 

filed in another case, see Ex. 8, Order, Foreman v. Rosenberg, Davidson County, Tenn. 

Circuit Court Case No. 23C891 (July 11, 2023), which was at least the third such SLAPP-

suit he had filed that year.  See Ex. 9, Complaint, Foreman v. Hemmer, Williamson 

County, Tenn. Circuit Court Case No. 22CV–517 (October 24, 2022); Ex. 10, Complaint, 

Foreman v. St. Clair, Davidson County, Tenn. Circuit Court Case No. 22C1315 (July 1, 

2022).  Thus, the Plaintiff’s counsel has abused the litigation process repeatedly to further 

extra-judicial ends, and he will continue to do so unless meaningfully punished. 
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 This Court should put an end to this.  Thus, in addition to awarding the Defendant 

his full attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses under § 20-17-107(a)(1) (which are 

mandatory), this Court should also assess a severe sanction against the Plaintiff and his 

counsel under § 20-17-107(a)(2) to deter repetition of their conduct.  In particular, it 

should issue a sanctions award of $200,000.00—equivalent to the minimum amount that 

the Plaintiff has baselessly sought from the Defendant for exercising his protected speech, 

see Compl. at 4—“to deter repetition of the conduct by the party who brought the legal 

action or by others similarly situated.”  See id.  The Defendant is entitled to—and he 

expressly raises his entitlement to—fees under Tennessee Code Annotated § 20-12-119(c) 

as well. 

VI.  CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, this action should be dismissed with prejudice; the 

Defendant should be awarded his attorney’s fees and expenses; and the Plaintiff should 

be sanctioned. 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       By:       /s/ Daniel A. Horwitz_________ 
DANIEL A. HORWITZ, BPR #032176 
LINDSAY SMITH, BPR #035937 
MELISSA K. DIX, BPR #038535  
HORWITZ LAW, PLLC 

      4016 WESTLAWN DR. 
      NASHVILLE, TN  37209 
      (615) 739-2888 
      daniel@horwitz.law 
      lindsay@horwitz.law 

        melissa@horwitz.law 
       

Counsel for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 10th day of August, 2023, a copy of the foregoing was 
served via email or UPS, postage prepaid, upon: 

G. Kline Preston, IV
4515 Harding Pike Suite 17
Nashville, TN 37205
kpreston@klineprestonlaw.com

Counsel for the Plaintiff 

By:     /s/ Daniel A. Horwitz________ 
Daniel A. Horwitz, Esq. 
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Video accessible at: 
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DECLARATION OF STEVEN PARKS 
 
 

1. My name is Steven Parks, I have personal knowledge of the facts affirmed 

in this Declaration, I am competent to testify regarding them, and I swear under penalty 

of perjury that they are true. 

2. Daylan Langford—the Defendant in Jonathan Gilbert v. Daylan Langford, 

Rutherford County Circuit Court Case No. 81200—is my neighbor. 

3. I had my vehicle worked on previously by Jonathan Gilbert, whom I know 

as “Jon,” and was very displeased with how I was treated and also by how I saw Jon 

interact with other customers.  So much so that when it was time to pick up my vehicle, I 

would not allow my wife to go get it without me being present because I was in fear of an 

altercation with Jon. 

4. On Wednesday, July 5, 2023, I drove by Jon’s Auto Service and saw Daylan 

protesting.  It was extremely hot and I thought Daylan could use some water, so I returned 

a short time later to bring him a few bottles. 

5.   I parked off to the side so I didn't take up any potential customer parking 

and walked over to where Daylan was protesting to bring him water. 

6. I was catching up with Daylan and he was telling me what all had been going 

on.  At some point in the conversation, Jon’s brother came out and walked across the 

street to the gas station. 

7. While Jon’s brother was returning from the gas station, I said in a loud voice 

something to the effect of: "Thanks for telling me about these guys—I had a whole bunch 

of work to get done but I’ll go somewhere else." 

8. I said this strictly as a show of support for Daylan’s protest, not because I 

Daniel Horwitz
Defendant's Exhibit
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actually intended to do business with Jon’s Auto Service and had had my mind changed.  

9. After my one and only time of dealing with Jon, I knew for a fact that I would 

never be repeat business for him.  My decision not to be a repeat customer had nothing 

to do with anything Daylan told me.  Jon made that decision for me by the way he treated 

me way before Daylan’s protest.    

10. I respect what Daylan is doing, as Jon has hurt many people in our 

community and it needs to stop.  I am not sure how he has been able to get away with it 

for so long. 

Further Declarant sayeth naught. 

Pursuant to Tenn. R. Civ. P. 72, I declare under penalty of perjury that the 

foregoing is true and correct.  

By:  __________________ 
 Steven Parks 
 
 
Date:  __________________ 

Steven Parks (Jul 24, 2023 14:43 CDT)
Steven Parks

Jul 24, 2023
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DECLARATION OF MARIANNE LANGFORD 
 
 

1. My name is Marianne Langford, I have personal knowledge of the facts 

affirmed in this Declaration, I am competent to testify regarding them, and I swear under 

penalty of perjury that they are true. 

2. Daylan Langford—the Defendant in Jonathan Gilbert v. Daylan Langford, 

Rutherford County Circuit Court Case No. 81200—is my husband. 

3. On Monday, July 3, 2023, while my husband was picketing at Jon’s Auto 

Service, I contacted him to ask if he wanted a photo of himself during his protest.   

4. I assumed from Daylan’s response that he did want a photo.  As a result, I 

drove to where Daylan was protesting and pulled into the far end of the Jon’s Auto Service 

parking lot. 

5. My plan was to quickly get out, snap a photo, and drive off.  As soon as 

Daylan saw me, though, he started waving his hands, motioned me not to get out of the 

car, and indicated that I should leave immediately.  As a result, I got back into my car and 

drove off, figuring that something had changed. 

6. Later in the day, I found out that Daylan had assumed that I was just going 

to take a photo while driving by his protest, and that he did not want Jonathan Gilbert to 

know what car I drove for safety reasons.  As a result, when Daylan saw me park at Jon’s 

Auto Service, he indicated that I should leave immediately. 

7. I was not a customer of Jonathan Gilbert or Jon’s Auto Service at the time; 

I am not a customer of Jonathan Gilbert or Jon’s Auto Service now; I do not intend to 

become a customer of Jonathan Gilbert or Jon’s Auto Service at any future time; and I 

never intended to become a customer of Jonathan Gilbert or Jon’s Auto Service at any 
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previous time.   

Further Declarant sayeth naught. 

Pursuant to Tenn. R. Civ. P. 72, I declare under penalty of perjury that the 

foregoing is true and correct.  

By:  __________________ 
 Marianne Langford 
 
 
Date:  __________________ 

Marianne Langford (Jul 24, 2023 17:39 CDT)

Jul 24, 2023
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IN THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT COURT FOR DAVIDSON COUNTY, TENNESSEE 
AT NASHVILLE 

 
 
MICHELLE FOREMAN,    §  
       §    
  Plaintiff,    §    
       §    
v.       §    Case No. 23C891 
       §    
DAVE ROSENBERG,   §   
       § 
  Defendant.    §  
 

 
ORDER 

 
 
 This matter came before the Court for hearing on June 30, 2023, upon the 

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss and Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-104(a) Petition to Dismiss 

the Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint Pursuant to the Tennessee Public Participation Act.  

Upon consideration of the Defendant’s Tennessee Public Participation Act (“TPPA”) 

Petition (Doc. 30), the Defendant’s Memorandum of Law and accompanying exhibits in 

support of his TPPA Petition (Docs. 31–42), the Plaintiff’s Response in opposition thereto 

(Doc. 43), the Defendant’s Reply (Doc. 44), the arguments of counsel, the position 

expressed by the Tennessee Attorney General during the hearing of this matter, and the 

entire record, the Court FINDS and ORDERS as follows: 

 1.  The Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint in this action on May 31, 2023.  

The Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint was complete in itself; it is a “Legal action” within the 

meaning of Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-103(5); and the controlling law in Tennessee cited 

by the Defendant provides that the Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint superseded the initial 

complaint as a pleading.  Accordingly, the Defendant’s TPPA Petition having been filed 

EFILED  07/11/23 03:59 PM  CASE NO. 23C891  Joseph P. Day, Clerk
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on June 12, 2023, the Court finds that the Defendant’s TPPA Petition was timely filed 

under Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-104(b).   

 2. The Defendant has demonstrated that this is a lawsuit concerning 

communications made about a public figure.  Thus, for the reasons set forth in the 

Defendant’s Memorandum of Law in Support of his TPPA Petition, the Court finds that 

the Defendant has met his initial burden under Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-105(a) of making 

a prima facie case that the Plaintiff’s legal action is based on the Defendant’s exercise of 

the right of free speech within the meaning of Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-103(3) and (6)(D).   

 3. The Defendant-Petitioner having met his initial burden under Tenn. Code 

Ann. § 20-17-105(a), the Court moves to Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-105(b), which shifts the 

burden to the Plaintiff-Respondent to establish a prima facie case for each essential 

element of the claim in the legal action.  The Court finds that, in her response in 

opposition to the Defendant’s TPPA Petition, the Plaintiff failed to establish each essential 

element of her claim for defamation by failing to respond to the merits of the Defendant’s 

TPPA Petition.  Relying on Nandigam Neurology, PLC v. Beavers, 639 S.W.3d 651, 668 

(Tenn. Ct. App. 2021) and Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-105(b), the Court finds that dismissal 

of the Plaintiff’s legal action is mandatory under these circumstances.  Accordingly, the 

Court ORDERS that the Defendant’s Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-104(a) Petition to Dismiss 

is GRANTED, and that the Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint is DISMISSED WITH 

PREJUDICE pursuant to Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-105(e). 

 4. Regarding the Plaintiff’s constitutional claims, the Court relies on the 

Tennessee Supreme Court’s holding in Sneed v. Bd. of Pro. Resp. of Supreme Ct., 301 

S.W.3d 603, 615 (Tenn. 2010), for the proposition that: “It is not the role of the courts, 

trial or appellate, to research or construct a litigant’s case or arguments for him or her, 

EFILED  07/11/23 03:59 PM  CASE NO. 23C891  Joseph P. Day, Clerk
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and where a party fails to develop an argument in support of his or her contention or 

merely constructs a skeletal argument, the issue is waived.”  Here, the Plaintiff having 

failed to develop her constitutional arguments or merely constructed skeletal arguments 

regarding them, the Court finds that the Plaintiff’s constitutional claims are DENIED AS 

WAIVED. 

 5. The Court further finds that the Plaintiff has not requested an extension of 

time to file any response and that she did, in fact, file a response to the Defendant’s TPPA 

Petition.  For that reason, because of the Court’s ruling regarding the Plaintiff’s 

constitutional claims, and for the reasons expressed by the Attorney General, the Court 

will not stay a ruling on the Defendant’s TPPA Petition.   

 6. The Court finds that an award of reasonable attorney’s fees is mandatory 

under Tenn. Code Ann. § 20-17-107(a)(1) and that attorney’s fees and expenses will be 

awarded to the Defendant.  The Court will defer a ruling on the amount of attorney’s fees 

and expenses to be awarded pending further briefing on a motion for attorney’s fees.  The 

Plaintiff shall be afforded an opportunity to respond to any such motion. 

 7. The Court is not addressing the Defendant’s claim for sanctions at this time.  

The Defendant may file a motion for sanctions at the same time or after the Defendant 

files his motion for attorney’s fees.  The Plaintiff will be afforded an opportunity to 

respond to any motion for sanctions filed by the Defendant. 

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 ENTERED this the ____ day of __________, 2023.   

        ______________________ 
        Judge Lynne T. Ingram1 
        Circuit Court Judge 

 
1 The Judge's signature may be appended to this order upon entry via the Court's e-filing system. 
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APPROVED FOR ENTRY: 
 
By:       /s/ Daniel A. Horwitz________ 

DANIEL A. HORWITZ, BPR #032176 
LINDSAY SMITH, BPR #035937 
MELISSA K. DIX, BPR #038535  
HORWITZ LAW, PLLC 
4016 WESTLAWN DR. 
NASHVILLE, TN  37209 
(615) 739-2888 
daniel@horwitz.law 
lindsay@horwitz.law 
melissa@horwitz.law 
       
SARAH L. MARTIN, BPR #037707  
THE HIGGINS FIRM, PLLC 
525 Fourth Avenue South  
Nashville, TN 37210  
(615) 353-0930  
smartin@higginsfirm.com 
  
JAMIE R. HOLLIN, BPR #025460  
ATTORNEY AT LAW  
1006 Fatherland Street Suite 102B  
Nashville, TN 37206  
(615) 870-4650  
j.hollin@me.com  
 

  Counsel for Defendant 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
  

I hereby certify that on this 5th day of July, 2023, a copy of the foregoing was 
served via the Court’s e-filing system upon: 
 

G. Kline Preston, IV  
4515 Harding Pike Suite 17  
Nashville, TN 37205  
kpreston@klineprestonlaw.com  

 
Counsel for the Plaintiff 

 
       
      By:     /s/ Daniel A. Horwitz________ 
       Daniel A. Horwitz, Esq. 
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Case Title: FOREMAN V ROSENBERG

Case Number: 23C891

Type: ORDER- GENERAL

The foregoing is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED
AND DECREED:

Judge Lynne T. Ingram, Eighth Circuit

Electronically signed on 07/11/2023 03:59 PM     page 6 of 6
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